

### **MASTER AGREEMENT**

### between

# HOLLY AREA SCHOOLS BOARD OF EDUCATION

### and

The American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees Union, Council 25 and its Affiliated Local Union 202

2016 - 2017

2017 - 2018

2018 - 2019

Effective: July 1, 2016 Expires: June 30, 2019

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

AGREEMENT A	ND PURPOSE AND INTENT 1
ARTICLE 1	Recognition1
ARTICLE 2	Union Security1
ARTICLE 3	Strike Prohibition
ARTICLE 4	Union Stewards
ARTICLE 5	Seniority
ARTICLE 6	Management Rights4
ARTICLE 7	Discipline, Suspension and Discharge of Employees 5
ARTICLE 8	Layoff and Recall6
ARTICLE 9	Grievance Procedure 8
ARTICLE 10	Vacancies, Transfers and Promotions 11
ARTICLE 11	Leave of Absence
ARTICLE 12	Union Bulletin Boards
ARTICLE 13	Retirement
ARTICLE 14	Workers' Compensation
ARTICLE 15	Rates for New Jobs
ARTICLE 16	Labor Management Committee
ARTICLE 17	Miscellaneous
ARTICLE 18	Safety
ARTICLE 19	Job Description
ARTICLE 20	Health Article
ARTICLE 21	Act of God Days
ARTICLE 22	Vacations 20

ARTICLE 23	Benefits	21
ARTICLE 24	Duration of Agreement	27
APPENDIX A	Transportation – Bus Driver	32
APPENDIX B	Cafeteria	33
APPENDIX C	Rates of Pay – All Classifications	34
APPENDIX D	Health Care Plan	36
APPENDIX E	Dental/Optical Plan	37-39
LETTER OF AG	REEMENT	40
INDEX	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	41

#### MASTER AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into this 13<sup>th</sup> day of June, 2016, between the Holly Area Schools, hereinafter referred to as the employer, and the Holly Area Schools Employee Chapter of the Local Union 202, affiliated with Council 25 of the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the union.

Note: The headings used in this Agreement and appendices neither add to nor subtract from the meaning, but are for references only.

#### **PURPOSE AND INTENT**

The purpose and intent of this Agreement shall be to meet the statutory obligations under Public Act 379 as revised.

# ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

The employer hereby recognizes the union as exclusive bargaining representative as determined by the Michigan Employment Relations Commission.

The bargaining unit includes all cafeteria and transportation employees, including bus drivers, bus attendants, mechanic, assistant mechanics, but excluding noon lunch and playground aides, crossing guards, cafeteria supervisor, transportation supervisor, secretaries and clerks, substitute bus drivers, other substitutes and other supervisors.

### ARTICLE 2 UNION SECURITY

Employees covered by this Agreement at the time it becomes effective and who are members of the union at that time may continue membership in the union.

### ARTICLE 3 STRIKE PROHIBITION

The union, recognizing that State statutes prohibit strikes for public employees, hereby agree that they will not engage in, or encourage, strike action of any type during the life of this Agreement

### ARTICLE 4 UNION STEWARDS

- A. Each of the two divisions in the bargaining unit, specifically, transportation and cafeteria shall be represented by one steward or his/her alternate. Stewards or their alternates shall be regular employees of the Holly Area Schools.
- B. The union shall notify the employer in writing of the designated stewards and alternate stewards and the division they represent at the beginning of the school year or when an office change takes place.
- C. Stewards may present grievances to the employer under the conditions of the grievance procedures as set forth elsewhere in the contract. The steward's immediate supervisor may grant permission for stewards to leave their work for the purpose of presenting grievances to the employer, or to discuss a grievance with an employee within the bargaining unit. It is understood that stewards will perform their regularly assigned work at all times and that the employer shall not withhold permission to leave a job when the need is justified. If, in the opinion of either party, it is felt that there is abuse under this section (C), a special conference may be requested.
- D. When a Chapter chairperson and/or steward's presence is required by the district during his/her regularly scheduled hours, he/she will not suffer a loss of wages.

### ARTICLE 5 SENIORITY

#### Section 1

A. New employees hired into the division shall be considered as probationary employees for the first sixty (60) actual work days of their employment. When the probationary employee has successfully completed the probationary period their name will be entered on the seniority list of the division as of the most recent date of hire as a probationary employee, his/her seniority will begin at this time. There will be no seniority among probationary employees. Probationary employees will become eligible for benefits after completion of their probationary period.

The employer will subtract up to 30 days of the required sixty (60) day probationary period provided these days are consecutively worked as a substitute immediately prior to the appointment as a regular employee in the same category as the employee served as a substitute. In the event these days are subtracted, the employer will not be responsible for back pay at regular rate for these unearned days or paid holidays.

- B. The union shall represent probationary employees for the purpose of collective bargaining in respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment and other conditions of employment as set forth in this agreement; except that the employer will have the right to discharge or take disciplinary action other than for union activities involving a probationary employee without a grievance filed or processed.
- C. Seniority shall be on a division basis in accordance with the employees' most recent date of hire.
- D. When more than one employee is hired on the same day, seniority will be determined by alphabetical sequence, unless two or more with district seniority are hired on the same day, in which case the employee with the most district seniority shall have the most seniority.
- E. Any probationary employee may be terminated at the sole discretion of the employer during the probationary period without recourse to the grievance procedure.

#### Section 2

- A. Seniority lists will be furnished to the Chapter Chair upon request. It is expected that these requests will be on or about October 1 of each contractual year. Up-to-date lists will be furnished once each month to the Chapter Chair upon request. The Chapter Chair may request up to five (5) copies. The employer will furnish the union a list of probationary employees upon request.
- B. The seniority list on the date of this agreement will show the names and job titles of all employees of the union entitled to seniority.
- C. The Union shall be responsible for verifying the accuracy of the seniority list by October 31<sup>st</sup> each year. Thereafter the list shall be considered final and conclusive.

#### Section 3 Loss of Seniority

A non-probationary employee shall lose seniority for the following reasons:

- a) Voluntary quit;
- b) Discharge which is not reversed through the grievance procedure;
- c) Absent for three (3) consecutive working days without notifying the employer; the employer may, however, make exceptions to this rule;
- d) Failure to return when recalled from a layoff;
- e) Retirement.

In instances where the employee has been absent three (3) consecutive work days without notifying the employer, the employer shall send written notification to the employee at their last known address that the employee has lost their seniority rights. The employee may appeal such determination through the grievance procedure.

#### Section 4 Seniority Retention

A bargaining unit member who transfers out of the bargaining unit, will retain accumulated seniority for a period of one year if transferred back into the bargaining unit. Persons who continue to work within the bargaining unit that work outside of the unit on a part-time basis will continue to accumulate seniority. When returning to the bargaining unit, an employee may qualify for the positions within the division at the level their seniority allows.

The employer, may, however, make exceptions to this rule.

#### Section 5 Seniority of Stewards

A. Notwithstanding their position on the seniority list, stewards, in the event of layoff of any type, shall be continued at work as long as there is a job in their classification which they can perform, and shall be recalled to work in the event of layoff on the first job open in their unit which they can perform.

However, stewards under this clause shall not request a move to a higher classification under this article.

B. Notwithstanding their position on the seniority list, the Chair and Chief Steward of the Chapter shall, in the event of a layoff, be continued at work at all times when one or more divisions or fractions thereof are at work, provided they can perform any of the work available.

However, Chair and Chief Stewards under this clause shall not request a move to a higher classification under this section.

# ARTICLE 6 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The employer, being the Board of Education of the Holly Area Schools, being a legally constituted body, and governed by the rules and regulations of boards of education in the State of Michigan, on its own behalf of the electors of said school district, thereby retain and reserve unto itself all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon, invested in it, by the laws and constitution of the State of Michigan, and of the United States. This will include, but not be limited to, the following:

The determination and administration of policy.

The operation of the school.

The management and control of school properties and facilities.

The selection, direction, transfer, promotion, discipline or dismissal of all personnel.

The exercise of these powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the Board, and the adoption of such rules, regulations, and policies, as it may deem necessary, shall be limited only by the specific terms of this agreement, but shall not be in conflict with this agreement.

# ARTICLE 7 DISCIPLINE, SUSPENSION AND DISCHARGE OF EMPLOYEES

- A. Discipline will be discussed with the employee who may have a union representative present.
- B. Suspension the union (Chapter Chair) and the employee will be given written notice of suspension. This written notice of suspension shall state the reason for same.
- C. Should the discharged, suspended, or disciplined employee consider the action to be improper, a grievance shall be presented in writing through the steward to the supervisor within five (5) regularly scheduled working days after receiving the notification. If the decision is not satisfactory to the union, the matter shall be referred to Step 3 of the grievance procedure.
- D. Use of past records. In imposing any discipline on a current charge, the employer will not take into account any prior infractions of a minor nature which occurred more than three (3) years previously.

When an employee is disciplined, the employer shall state the reason in writing and review the corrective actions that must be taken in a private conference. The employer will strive to ensure that discipline is administered in a timely manner.

Employees who have been required by the employer to file a second application for employment will not be disciplined because of inadvertent errors or mistakes on this application.

Written statements of this nature shall become a part of the employee's personnel file, with a copy to the employee.

- E. The parties agree to the following provisions as to the use of sick leave:
  - 1. The parties recognize that excessive use or abuse of sick leave is disruptive to the operation of the school district and imposes an unnecessary burden on other employees. Regular and reliable attendance of employees is in the best interest of all and an essential job duty.

2. Employees who abuse sick leave or who have a pattern of absenteeism may be subject to discipline as follows:

a. 1<sup>st</sup> Step Oral warning and counseling by the supervisor - documented in the personnel file

b. 2<sup>nd</sup> Step Written reprimand

c. 3<sup>rd</sup> Step Suspension without pay (3 days)

d. 4<sup>th</sup> Step Discharge

- 3. These provisions are not intended to apply to employees with legitimate medical conditions who do not have a pattern of absenteeism or abuse.
- 4. The employer also has the authority to request a physician's statement or to request an employee to submit to a physical or mental examination by a Board selected physician when the employer believes that the employee has abused sick leave.

# ARTICLE 8 LAYOFF AND RECALL

A. The word "layoff" means the reduction in the working force due to a decrease in work, reduction in operating funds, a decrease in student enrollment or reduction in hours.

The word "recall" means increasing the working force after a layoff.

#### B. Layoff Procedure

Layoff will be on a division basis and within the division according to classification. The probationary employees within the division and specific classification will be laid off first. Following probationary and all non-seniority employee layoff, the next to be laid off will be the person with the lowest seniority. The person within the division and classification who has the most seniority will be the last to be laid off, providing he/she is qualified of performing the work.

If the layoff is for more than two years, the employer is not required to recall this employee.

Any seniority employee affected by a layoff shall be able, by virtue of his/her seniority, to move into any equal or lower classification in the same division where his/her seniority will allow.

Probationary employees who are laid off and later recalled will receive credit for the days worked, providing the layoff period is not longer than the days worked.

#### C. Permanent Layoff

Seven (7) calendar days' notice will be given by the employer. The Chapter Chair will receive a list of employees being laid off.

#### D. Recall Procedure

When a working force is increased after layoff, employees will be recalled according to division and classification needs by seniority (if qualified to perform the work available). The employer will recall by sending a certified or registered letter to the employee's last known address. The employee must report his/her intention to return to work in writing within 24 hours after receipt of the employer's recall notice and must be available to report to work within 5 days after receipt of the recall notice. Failure to answer the employer's recall notice within 24 hours, or if he/she fails to report within 5 days after filing his/her intent, he/she shall be considered a voluntary resignation.

#### E. Bumping Caused By Layoff

When union members are affected by layoff, union members will be permitted to bump horizontally in their pay scale within their division, or vertically to a lower pay scale where their seniority will allow, but will not be permitted to bump into a higher pay scale.

#### F. Voluntary Layoff

During a layoff period, requests for voluntary layoffs will be considered and, if they are granted, the employee understands they must return back to work when called back or they will terminate their employment with the district. Normally, voluntary layoffs shall be limited in duration to six (6) months.

### ARTICLE 9 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Grievance definition - A grievance shall mean a claimed violation of a specific article or subsection of this contract, involving its interpretation or application. If at least one specific article or subsection is not listed in the written grievance, the grievance shall be invalid and no action will be required by the employer.

Grievances not initiated within 15 workdays after the occurrence or first knowledge, or if a grievance is not carried to the next step within five work days after the answer is given to the previous step, the grievance shall be considered dropped and no further recourse shall be allowed

#### Step 1.

Step 1 of the grievance procedure shall be an informal meeting between the supervisor and the person with the alleged grievance and the union steward, if requested by the employee. This first step of the grievance procedure shall take place within 15 workdays of the occurrence or first knowledge of the incident leading to the grievance. The supervisor shall have 10 work days to respond if not able to resolve the issue during the informal meeting.

#### Step 2.

The grievance, if not resolved at Step 1, will be submitted to the immediate supervisor in writing, who will have five work days in which to answer the grievance. Copies of the supervisor's answer to the grievance will be placed in writing and a copy sent to the employee with the alleged grievance and the union division steward.

#### Step 3.

If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the union or employee, a copy of the written grievance shall be sent to the superintendent or his/her designee within five (5) working days of the answer at Step 2.

3A. The superintendent of schools shall hold a meeting of the persons concerned with the grievance, the union, the building principal, and himself/herself, to study the problem. The superintendent shall schedule the meeting within five (5) working days. The superintendent will then render his/her decision within five working days after this meeting. This decision shall be in writing, with copies to all parties concerned.

#### Step 4.

If answer is not satisfactory to the union or employee at step 3A within five (5) working days of the superintendent's response, a copy of the written recommendation shall be sent to the Board of Education through the superintendent of schools, who will place it on the board's agenda. The Board of Education shall have the option of having a committee meet to hear the grievance and make a recommendation to the full board. The Board of Education will render a decision within eight workdays after the next regularly scheduled Board of Education meeting. This decision shall be placed in writing and a copy mailed to the union chapter Chair.

The Board may choose to delete this step and proceed immediately to Step 5.

#### Step 5.

- A. In the event the grievance is not settled in Step 4 either the School Board or the union shall have the right to appeal the dispute to Arbitration by giving the other party a written notice of intent and filing a demand for arbitration with the American Arbitration Association within thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of the answer in Step 4.
- B. The arbitrator shall be empowered except as listed below to investigate and make a decision in cases of alleged violation of specific articles and sections of this Agreement.
  - 1. If the Board contests the arbitrability of a grievance, the arbitrator must first rule on this point prior to hearing the grievance.
  - 2. He shall have no power to add to, subtract from, disregard, alter, or modify any of the terms of this Agreement.
  - 3. He shall have no power to change salary scales or change any salary.
  - 4. If there has been no monetary loss, the arbitrator cannot award monetary damages.
  - 5. During the arbitration proceedings, introduction of evidence and issues not previously disclosed during the defined steps of the grievance procedure will be prohibited by both parties unless by mutual consent.
  - 6. The arbitrator will hear the grievance in dispute and will render a decision in writing and will set forth the findings and conclusions with respect to the issue submitted to arbitration. Both parties agree to be bound by the award of the arbitrator and agree the judgment thereon may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction.
  - 7. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the school district and the union. All other expenses shall be borne by the

party incurring them, and neither party shall be responsible for the expense of witnesses called by the other.

- 8. The arbitrator must deal only with the grievance that is being presented.
- 9. No award shall be made retroactive prior to the time when the grievance was filed.
- 10. The arbitrator will not render any decision which would require or permit an action in violation of the Michigan School Law.
- 11. The arbitrator shall have no power to change any practice, policy or rule of the school district nor to substitute his/her judgment for that of the school district.

His/her powers shall be limited to deciding whether the school district has violated the express articles or sections of this agreement, and shall not imply obligations and conditions binding upon the school district from this agreement, it being understood that any matter not specifically set forth herein remains within the reserved rights of the school district.

He/she shall have no power to decide any questions which, under this agreement, is within the responsibility of management to decide. In rendering decisions, an arbitrator shall give due regard to the responsibility of management and shall so construe the agreement that there will be no interference with such responsibilities, except as they may be specifically conditioned by this agreement.

12. The arbitrator shall have no power to hear any grievance within the remedial authority specified by state and federal law, regarding the content of an evaluation-or decision to layoff.

#### Step 6.

If the employer has a grievance to file, it shall be filed with the Chapter of the local union. The Chapter Chair will have five work days in which to answer the grievance. If it is unresolved in this written answer, it will revert to the above step.

Items relating to grievances.

Grievances may be dropped at any time or any step of the grievance procedure by the person or persons who are allegedly aggrieved. Grievances not processed to the next step within the time limit shall be considered withdrawn. Any time limits under this procedure may be extended by mutual agreement between the employer and union or employee. Extensions of time shall not be unreasonably denied.

# ARTICLE 10 VACANCIES, TRANSFERS AND PROMOTIONS

#### Definitions:

Vacancies - an open position within the bargaining unit created by: retirement, resignation, termination, transfer or creation of a new position, or any other leave that exceeds 30 working days.

Transfer - a lateral change within a salary classification within a division where there is an opening and there is no additional compensation.

Promotion - an upward change in an open job classification within the bargaining unit which results in additional rate compensation during the regular work day. Promotions are not meant to include the taking on of additional duties within the same job classification or work involving overtime, shift differential, or premium pay.

#### A. Vacancies

#### 1. Posting for vacancies

- a. Whenever a vacancy in a position occurs, the employer shall publicize the same by giving written notice of such vacancy by posting the job classification and its duties. No vacancy shall be filled, except on a temporary basis, until such vacancy shall have been posted for five (5) working days. Employees wishing to bid shall do so in writing within the posting period. The employer will notify the Union upon request on the status of filling vacant positions.
- b. When a vacancy occurs within the bargaining unit, the employer will post the position within ten (10) work days or will inform the union Chapter Chair of their intention.
- c. The employer will fill the position as quickly as a qualified candidate is available.
- d. The employee who meets the job requirements for the position will be given consideration. If all other factors are equal, the seniority employee will be awarded the position.

#### 2. Notice of Leave Position

a. When a medical leave is granted within the bargaining unit, the employer will provide notice of the leave position within five (5) work days or will inform the Union Chapter Chair of their intentions.

- b. The notice of leave position will be posted for five (5) work days. Employees wishing to bid shall do so in writing within the posting period.
- c. At the end of the leave notification time period, the employer will fill the position within two (2) days or will inform the Union Chapter Chair of their intentions.
- d. Transfers for leaves granted beyond six (6) months will not be deemed "a temporary transfer", unless the employee on leave requests an early return/extension in accordance with the thirty (30) day notification period.

#### B. Transfers

- 1. The employer shall not be prevented from making transfers within a division if necessary to fill a temporary vacancy caused by leaves of absence, vacations, resignations, discharges, etc. Temporary transfers shall be limited to thirty (30) calendar days, except for transfers to fill in for medical leaves. (See Article 11A). Every attempt will be made by the employer to fill these transfers on a seniority basis.
- 2. If an employee is transferred to a position not in the bargaining unit, and is thereafter transferred back again by either the employer or by their own volition, he/she shall not lose the seniority accumulated prior to the transfer out of the unit.
- 3. It is recognized that upon occasion the transfer of an employee may be to the mutual benefit of the employer and the employee. The employer will transfer only for good cause and will make the reason for the transfer known to the union and employee. The union or the employee may request a meeting with the superintendent or designee within 10 calendar days of notification to request additional information or challenge the reasons. Affected employees shall not suffer a loss of hours, pay or benefits as a result of said transfer, unless the transfer was requested by the employee.
- 4. When an employee is required to work above his or her classification they will be paid the rate they would receive if they were promoted to that classification. A temporary assignment is interpreted to be less than one (1) week. If an employee temporarily works below their classification, he/she shall receive their regular classification pay.

#### C. Promotions

1. Promotions will be based upon ability to do the specific job and seniority. All other conditions being equal, a seniority employee shall be given preference. In the event the seniority applicant is denied the promotion, reasons for the denial shall be given in writing to the employee. If the seniority employee bidding is denied the promotion,

he shall be allowed to file a grievance to prove their ability is equal to, or superior to, the successful bidder.

- 2. The person receiving the promotion shall have a twenty (20) work day trial period, during which the employee shall have the opportunity to revert back to their former classification by written request to the employer. If the employee is unsatisfactory in the position, he/she will be returned to his/her former position, and reasons shall be submitted to the employee in writing with a copy to the union. The matter then may become subject to the grievance procedure. Their salary shall revert to the classification from which he was promoted.
- 3. During the trial period, the employee will receive the rate of the job he/she is performing.
- 4. An employee who is promoted during his/her probationary period shall be considered to have satisfactorily completed his/her probationary period in the classification from which he/she has been promoted.
- 5. Employees promoted to a higher classification will not suffer a reduction in wages as a result of such promotion.

#### ARTICLE 11 LEAVE OF ABSENCE

The Board of Education will administer the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act consistent with the guidelines.

Employees who voluntarily fail to return upon completion of FMLA leave may be required to reimburse the district the cost of the employer contribution for insurance premium contributions. Paid leave shall be counted toward FMLA.

An employer may grant an unpaid leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed one (1) year for reasons stated below.

#### A. Medical Leave

Medical (health) leave shall be granted by the employer, when certified by a qualified medical doctor, up to a maximum of one (1) year. A person on an approved medical leave may use his/her accumulated sick time for the duration of the leave until such time is exhausted. Health benefits shall continue for either the longer of four months or until the employee's sick time is exhausted.

An employee returning to work shall be accompanied by a statement from a medical doctor certifying that the employee is physically able to return to work at full capacity. Upon written request, such leave may be extended up to one year at the sole discretion of the employer. Denial of a request for an extension shall not be grievable.

In no case shall the employer be required to re-employ any employee who is physically or mentally incapable of performing the duties of his/her position. However, personnel with limited physical capacities shall be employed in a lesser position, if such position is available.

A driver or bus attendant on an approved medical leave may participate in the bidding of runs. If the driver or bus attendant on approved medical leave does not participate in the bidding of runs, the run shall be considered open and up for bid. Such driver or bus attendant returning from medical leave shall replace the least senior driver or bus attendant who shall return to a substitute position.

#### B. Jury Duty

Any employee who is summoned for jury duty examination and investigation must notify the school business office within 72 hours of receipt of such notice. If an employee who has completed his/her probationary period is summoned and reports for jury duty, he shall be paid the difference between the amount he receives as a juror and his/her normal week's pay.

The employee must provide the employer a statement from the court indicating the days that he had worked. Employees must report to work on days his/her presence is not required, or if he can still work a portion of his/her shift after he is dismissed.

#### C. Personal Leave of Absence

An employee granted an unpaid leave of up to thirty (30) work days shall have their position filled by a substitute or under temporary transfers in Article 10, and accumulate seniority during their absence.

An employee granted an unpaid leave of absence of thirty-one (31) work days or more may have their position filled under vacancies in Article 10. Seniority will not accumulate during their absence. Thirty days prior to the end of such leave, the employee shall give written notice to the employer of their intention to either return or resign. If the employee fails to provide timely notice of return, the employee shall be considered to have voluntarily resigned.

An employee who is granted an unpaid leave of less than six months will be able to return to their position. An employee who is granted an unpaid leave beyond six months will return to the first open position for which they qualify within the same classification, unless the employee on leave requests an early return in accordance with the thirty (30) day notification period.

Number of leave days	Position returning to	Seniority
30 or less	Same	accumul <b>a</b> tes
31 days - 6 months	Same	freeze
Over 6 months	1 <sup>st</sup> open position within same classification	freeze

If the Employer makes special exceptions for the employee on leave, this should reflect on the person filling the position.

#### D. Child Care Leave

Non-probationary employees may be granted up to one year for childcare of a newborn or seriously ill minor child, subject to paragraph C above. A person on a child care leave shall accumulate seniority during the leave up to one year.

#### E. Military Leave

If an employee is on military leave, the employer will follow statutory obligations in reference to military leave.

#### F. Union Leave

The employer shall grant a leave of absence without pay to a non-probationary employee who is elected or appointed a full-time union office. Such requests must be in writing and shall not exceed a period of two (2) years. Upon written request the employer shall grant additional two (2) year extensions of such leave. The employee on leave shall not lose seniority nor accumulate seniority during his/her absence.

Leave for elected delegates will be granted for a maximum of five (5) days, without pay, upon two (2) weeks' notice, for the purpose of attending union conventions/conferences.

G. Other leaves for other purposes are generally not authorized and will only be approved by the superintendent or his designee and not subject to the grievance procedure.

# ARTICLE 12 UNION BULLETIN BOARDS

The employer will provide a bulletin board in each area which may be used by the union for posting notices of the following types: (1) notices of recreational and social events, (2) notices of elections, (3) notice of result of elections, (4) notice of meetings. The bulletin boards shall not be used by the union for disseminating propaganda, and, among other things, shall not be used by the union for posting or distributing pamphlets of political matters. The union shall have the exclusive right to use of these bulletin boards.

### ARTICLE 13 RETIREMENT

All public school employees are members of the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System and are eligible for retirement benefits after the guidelines of the Act are met. For further information regarding retirement benefits, see Article 23, Section I.

### ARTICLE 14 WORKERS' COMPENSATION

- A. Any employee who is eligible for benefits under the Michigan Workers' Compensation Act as a result of injury incurred in the performance of his or her job shall receive pay as follows:
  - 1. During the first seven (7) days the school shall pay the employee his or her basic rate, provided that this period of time is not paid under workers' compensation.
  - 2. In addition to the workers' compensation benefits, the employer will permit the employee to make up the difference between these benefits and the weekly basic pay by using accumulated sick days until they are used, or a maximum of one year, whichever occurs first. Accumulated sick days will be considered as days paid at the basic daily rate at the time of injury. Once the leave days are used the employees will receive only those benefits as provided by the insurance carrier. Example:

If an employee's hourly rate is \$5.00 per hour and works 40 regular hours per week, his/her daily rate would be \$40.00. If the employee has an unused accumulation of ten (10) sick days, a bank of four hundred (\$400.00) could be used to make up the difference in pay. After the four hundred dollars was used, the pay would revert to only the amount received under the Michigan Workers' Compensation Program. If

Workers' Compensation paid thirty-two dollars per day, eight dollars per day would be paid from the available sick bank.

- 3. To ensure eligibility for workers' compensation employees must report injury to the immediate supervisor or designee as soon as possible.
- B. Any employee receiving an injury on the job requiring immediate medical attention by a physician will receive pay for the full day's work at the regular rate and, if he or she is required to report back during working hours to the doctor, he or she will be paid for the lost time.
- C. The union will conform to State Workers' Compensation laws as may be revised by state statute during the term of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE 15 RATES FOR NEW JOBS

When a new job is established not within an existing category, the employer shall establish an initial rate structure for such a position. If the union disagrees with such rate structure following written notification of the employer, the union may request bargaining as it relates to such a position within fourteen (14) calendar days of notification of the new position.

# ARTICLE 16 LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Labor/Management meetings shall be for the purpose of maintaining communications in order to cooperatively discuss and verbalize problems of mutual concern to both parties.

An agenda will be submitted for such meetings at least seven days in advance of the scheduled meeting unless otherwise mutually agreed. Appropriate subjects for the agenda are:

- A. Administration of collective bargaining agreement.
- B. General information of interest to the parties.
- C. Expression of the employee's views or suggestions on subjects of interest to the parties.
- D. Recommendations on health and safety issues.
- E. The participation of union representatives on district committees where union input would be beneficial to the parties.
- F. Each party will be limited to four representatives at each meeting, unless otherwise mutually agreed upon.

# ARTICLE 17 MISCELLANEOUS

- A. All supplemental agreements shall be subject to ratification by employer and the local union. Ratification by both parties is mandatory.
- B. This agreement is subject to all respects to the laws of the State of Michigan, and in the event that any provisions of this agreement shall at any time be held to be contrary to law by court of competent jurisdiction, from whose final judgment or decree no appeal has been taken within the time provided for doing so, such provision shall be void and inoperative. In this event the parties shall meet in an effort to negotiate the voided provision. However, all the other provisions of this agreement shall continue in effect.
- C. Special conferences of important matters of mutual interest to the employer and the union may be arranged between the local president and his/her designated representative. Arrangements for special conferences shall be made in advance and an agenda of the matters to be taken up in special conference shall be confined to those included in the agenda.
- D. This agreement will supersede any rules, regulations or practices which shall be contrary to or inconsistent with this agreement. The provisions of this agreement shall be incorporated into and be considered part of the established policies of the employer.
- E. This agreement shall constitute the full and complete commitments between both parties and may not be altered, changed, added to, deleted from or modified in any way except through the voluntary, mutual consent of both parties in a written and signed amendment to this agreement.
- F. The parties shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to employment, because of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight or marital status pursuant to 1976 P.A. 453, Section 209. The parties shall also comply with the provisions of the Michigan Persons with Disabilities Civil Rights Act, 1976 P.A. 220, and the Federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973, P.L. 93-112, 87 Stat. 394, which states that no employee or client or otherwise qualified disabled individual shall, solely by reason of his/her disability, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program receiving Federal financial assistance. Sexual or racial harassment is also prohibited as part of the Labor Agreement and failure to comply with such requirements may give rise to disciplinary action up to and including discharge.

#### ARTICLE 18 SAFETY

The employee shall report to his/her immediate supervisor, upon knowledge, any suspected or evident dangerous condition, equipment, or situation where there is a question as to whether the equipment or condition is unsafe. The Chapter Chair and/or employee and the supervisor of the unit shall review the equipment, situation or condition in a meaningful attempt to rectify the alleged unsafe condition, equipment or situation.

If there is a disagreement concerning the unsafe equipment or condition, the employee will not use the equipment or perform duties under the condition unless so directed by his/her immediate supervisor.

# ARTICLE 19 JOB DESCRIPTION

The employer will furnish the union with job descriptions within 30 days after ratification. In the future when the employer changes a job description the union will receive adequate advance notice, not less than two weeks.

#### ARTICLE 20 HEALTH ARTICLE

If a medical examination is required by the employer, it will be performed by the employee's own doctor. The employer will reimburse the employee upon delivery of an invoice, up to a seventy-five (\$75) dollar limit. If the employer requests a second opinion, the employer will send the employee to a doctor appointed by the administration and the district will be responsible for the total cost. If either party requests a third opinion, the doctor will be mutually agreed upon by both parties, and the cost will be equally shared.

#### ARTICLE 21 ACT OF GOD DAYS

The Superintendent or his/her designated representative shall make final determination with respect to school closing.

Twelve (12) month employees will be expected to report to work, if the employee is unable to report to work, he/she may use a vacation day. If the employee has no such days they will not be paid for that day.

Ten month employees shall receive their regular rate of pay for the first six (6) days that are canceled because of inclement weather, fires, epidemics, mechanical breakdowns or health conditions provided that such days need not be rescheduled in order for the District to receive full state aid and to fully comply with the minimum number of days/hours prescribed by Michigan law.

### **ARTICLE 22 VACATIONS**

#### A. Eligibility

1. Twelve Month Employees

The following people are eligible for vacations provided they work a regular 40 hour week, twelve months of a year.

- a. Mechanics
- B. Vacation Allowance for twelve (12) month Employees
  - 1. Twelve (12) days after one year's employment. Prorated for less than one full year.
  - 2. Seventeen (17) days after five years of employment.
  - 3. Eighteen (18) days after seven years of employment.
  - 4. Nineteen (19) days after nine years of employment.
- C. Vacation Allowance for ten (10) month Employees

Ten (10) month employees shall be awarded two (2) days per year.

- D. Computation Calendar
  - 1. Vacations are computed based on a July 1<sup>st</sup> to June 30<sup>th</sup> base period.
  - Vacations are awarded the first payroll in July, based upon days worked for the prior year. Vacation days will be updated on this paycheck.

- E. When vacation may be taken.
  - 1. All vacations must have prior approval before vacations are taken.
  - 2. Ten (10) days of vacation shall be taken during the days when school is not in session. If an employee is eligible for more than ten (10) days, they shall be taken during the school year at a time mutually agreeable with the building principal or supervisor. If an employee is eligible for more than 17 vacation days, they shall be taken on a day when a substitute is not required.
  - 3. Twelve month employees are required to use their vacation days and must use them within one year after the July 1<sup>st</sup> date. Such employees may carry over up to three (3) vacation days to be used by December 31<sup>st</sup>. Earned vacation will not accumulate from year to year.
  - 4. Ten month employees may take vacation days during the school year at a time mutually agreeable with the supervisor.
  - 5. Upon retirement an employee may choose to use his/her earned vacation at the end of his/her employment.

#### F. Vacation Pay

- 1. Vacation pay is based upon the regular hours worked.
- 2. Pay is made during the regular pay period as though the employee is working during his/her vacation.
- 3. For ten (10) month employees, vacation days not taken shall be paid out to the employee at the end of the school year.

### ARTICLE 23 BENEFITS

- A. Insurance To be eligible for any benefits provided below, the employee is responsible to complete the application provided by the Board and/or applicable insurance carrier.
  - 1. Life Insurance

12 month employees \$15,000 with AD & D

10 month employees \$10,000 with AD & D

#### 2. Health

The Board of Education shall provide coverage based on the eligibility chart listed below. Coverage will be written to specifications of the plan listed in Appendix D as of July 1, 2016.

**Health Insurance Eligibility Chart** 

Employee Status	Scheduled Hours	Date of Probation	Level of Coverage
12 month	40 hours/week	After 60 days	Up to full family
10 month	25 hours/week	Prior to Nov. 1, 1998	Up to full family
10 month	25 hours/week	After Nov. 1, 1998 and prior to July 1, 2004	Single coverage only, able to purchase up to full family
10 month	30 hours/week	After Nov. 1, 1998 and prior to July 1, 2004	Up to full family
10 month	30 hours/week	After July 1, 2004	Up to full family
10 month	30 hours/week	Hired after July 1, 2012	Single coverage only, able to purchase up to full family

Contributions towards the employee share of the premium will be deducted over 18 pays, beginning in October and ending in June of each school year.

For the 2016-17 school year the contributions will be as follows:

	SINGLE	2 PERSON	FAMILY
Blue Care Network - 20%	\$ - 0 -	\$ - 0 -	\$ - 0 -
Blue Care Network - 0%	\$812.40	\$1,949.88	\$2,437.32
Per Pay over 18 Pays	\$45.13	\$108.33	\$135.41
BCBS Simply Blue - 20%	\$1,356.84	\$3,256.44	\$4,070.64
Per Pay over 18 Pays	\$75.38	\$180.91	\$226.15
BCBS Simply Blue - 0%	\$1,825.08	\$4,380.36	\$5,475.36
Per Pay over 18 Pays	\$101.39	\$243.35	\$304.19

#### Parties will meet annually to discuss changes in coverage and contribution rates.

Employees who are eligible for health insurance coverage as stated above shall not have health insurance coverage reduced or eliminated when the employee's hours are involuntarily reduced by the employer. At the start of a school year, following an involuntary reduction of hours, an employee has to meet the eligibility for health insurance according to the chart above. Such changes in health coverage shall take effect after run pick day for transportation employees and as of the first day of the school year for food service employees.

For food service, when a reduction of hours results in the loss of health insurance coverage (eligibility), and a position within the same classification exists which maintains health insurance eligibility, the most senior food service employee(s) shall have the right to transfer into said position to maintain health insurance coverage. Subsequently, the employee(s) affected by said transfer, shall be transferred into an

available position. The subsequent transfer of the employee(s) shall not be subject to Article 10, B. (3).

If the employee voluntarily reduces his/her hours, then health insurance benefits are subject to reduction. This language shall not preclude a reduction in benefits which affects the bargaining unit and has been subject to negotiation by the parties.

The Board of Education shall have the authority to award the contract for life, health, dental or optical insurance to the companies offering the lowest cost to the district provided they are equal to or better than the current carrier. The Board of Education shall not make plan design changes unless mutually agreed upon with AFSCME.

The failure of an insurance company to provide any of the benefits for which it was contracted for shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. The Board shall not make premium contributions for insurance coverage which may result in a penalty to the district or which is prohibited by the State.

Cash Option: All employees who are scheduled to work at least 25 hours per week, but do not take health insurance will receive on an annual basis, \$800.00 cash option of \$400.00 on the 2<sup>nd</sup> pay in November and \$400.00 on the 1<sup>st</sup> pay in May.

#### Dental

For 40 hours per week mechanic employees who have completed their probationary period, shall receive district-funded dental insurance as described in Appendix E.

#### 4. Optical

For 40 hours per week mechanic employees who have completed their probationary period, shall receive district-funded vision insurance as described in Appendix E.

#### 5. Long Term Disability (LTD)

Twelve (12) month employees working 40 hours per week will be provided LTD equal to 60% of their salary up to a maximum of \$1,500 per month with a 180 work day waiting period.

#### 6. Voluntary Options

Upon presentation of appropriate written authorization the employer agrees to make payroll deductions limited to a Group Options Insurance Plan.

#### B. Holidays

Employees shall be required to work the work days prior to and immediately following the holiday in order to receive holiday pay. Approved leave shall constitute a day worked. Sick days will be considered as approved leave providing that the illness is verified by a medical doctor.

1. Bus drivers\*, bus attendants\*, and cafeteria employees.

Thanksgiving Friday after Thanksgiving Day Christmas Eve Day Christmas Day New Year's Eve Day New Year's Day Good Friday Memorial Day

#### 2. Mechanic employees

Labor Day Thanksgiving Day Friday after Thanksgiving Day Christmas Day Day after Christmas Monday after Easter\*\* New Year's Eve Day New Year's Day Good Friday Memorial Day Fourth of July

\*Shall be paid on the average of the scheduled hours from the preceding work week

\*\* Shall be used as a floating holiday, with prior approval, providing school is not in session.

#### C. Sick Days

1. Bus drivers and bus attendants.

Eleven (11) sick days per year with an accumulation of unused days.

- Cafeteria employees shall receive four (4) sick days per year, effective July 1, 2008, and shall accumulate unused sick days based on use of sick days in the following manner:
  - a. When no sick days are accessed for a school year, two (2) additional days will be added to the accumulated sick days;
  - b. When two sick days are accessed for a school year, one (1) additional day will be added to the accumulated sick days.
- Mechanic employees.

Twelve (12) sick days per year, credited at 1 day per month that is worked, with an accumulation of unused days.

#### D. Funeral Leave

All classifications will be granted up to five (5) days per death of a member of the immediate family. Specifically father, mother, sister, brother, wife, husband, significant other, or children (son or daughter), and grandchildren. These days are not deducted from sick leave days. Included are family members of a step relationship.

All classifications will be granted up to three (3) days per death of an extended family member, specifically grandfather, grandmother, nieces, nephews, aunts, uncles and in-laws of mother, father, sister, brother, daughter and son. Employees may be granted one day without pay to attend the funeral of any person not listed in this section.

#### E. Employer provided uniforms

#### 1. Mechanics

The employer will supply laundered uniforms for the mechanics.

#### 2. Cafeteria

The employer will supply annually four (4) shirts, two (2) pairs of pants, one pair of non-skid, slip-resistant shoes, two (2) hats, and two (2) aprons annually, although aprons may be replaced more frequently on a "wear and tear" basis. The employee will be required to maintain these uniforms and wear on a daily basis. A committee of union and management will select acceptable styles.

#### F. Compensation

#### 1. Overtime

Time and one-half is to be paid for all hours over forty (40) hours per week worked, with no pyramiding and for all work performed on Saturday and Sunday, unless that is part of the employee's regularly scheduled work week. Double time will be paid if the employee works on a contractual paid holiday.

Overtime hours are to be authorized by the immediate supervisor.

#### 2. Minimum call in

- a. Mechanics and cafeteria employees who are called back to work after they have gone home will be guaranteed two (2) hours call in pay at time and one-half, or the agreed upon premium rate for holidays if worked.
- b. Drivers. Minimum call in shall be one (1) hour exclusive of shuttle runs and Act of God days.

If an extra trip scheduled for a non-school day is canceled without notice, the driver will receive three (3) hours pay at regular rate and not subject to overtime.

- c. Bus Attendants. Minimum call in shall be one (1) hour exclusive of Act of God days.
- 3. Steps on the salary scales (increments).

If the anniversary date of employment occurs six months or more prior to July 1<sup>st</sup> the employee will receive a full increment according to his/her years of experience. If the employee's anniversary of employment is less than six months prior to July 1<sup>st</sup> he/she will receive his/her increment the following year.

#### G. Special Conferences

Special conferences or meetings called by the employer will be paid at the employee's regular rate for all time spent in such meetings.

#### H. Hours and Shifts

Forty hour week - this is interpreted as five (5) eight hour days, generally Monday through Friday.

I. Retirement. Persons who retire under the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement Plan will be paid their unused sick days according to the schedule below.

Under 30 days	25% of daily rate or minimum of \$20 p/day
31-80 days	25% of daily rate or minimum of \$30 p/day
81-120 days	25% of daily rate or minimum of \$40 p/day
121-180 days	25% of daily rate or minimum of \$50 p/day

J. Unemployment. In the event that an employee receives unemployment for any day or days during a recess period\*, he/she shall have an equal amount deducted from the first check(s) they receive when they return to work.

<sup>\*</sup> Including but not limited to the following: Thanksgiving, Christmas, Easter, Memorial Day, Fourth of July, Labor Day, winter break, spring recess and summer recess.

# ARTICLE 24 DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This contract shall be in effect as of July 1, 2016, and shall remain in force and effect until June 30, 2019.

Sixty (60) days prior to the termination thereof as herein provided, either party may initiate negotiations for renewal and modification or a new contract.

If an emergency manager is appointed by the State under the Fiscal Accountability Act, the emergency manager may reject, modify, or terminate the collective bargaining agreement in his/her sole discretion. This authority is a prohibited subject of bargaining under the Public Employee Relations Act (PERA). This language was not negotiated by either party it was placed in the contract by law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement by their authorized representatives this day and year first mentioned above.

American Federation of State County & Municipal Employees Union, Council 25 & its Affiliated Local Union 202

Lora Koen, AFSCME Chapter Chairperson

Dorothy Stockwell, AFSCME

**Negotiating Team** 

Mary Robb, AFSCME Negotiating Team Holly Area Schools

Michael Newcomb

President, Board of Education

David Nuss

Superintendent

### APPENDIX A TRANSPORTATION

#### 1. DEFINITIONS

- A. Runs
  Drivers paid one run = one hour
- B. Driving time for (overnight) field trips: The clock hours or portion thereof that a bus driver is behind the wheel of the vehicle, actively engaged in control of the bus and for the duration of the actual event (i.e. parade, competition, track meet, etc.)
- C. Definition of warm-up (show-up time):
  - a. Responsibilities as designated by the transportation supervisor. A total of 15 minutes will be recorded at the beginning of posted time by the transportation supervisor for a.m. and p.m. warm up time.
  - b. For combination runs and for those runs that require using two buses, the driver will be paid 25 minutes warm-up pay in the event there is less than 15 minutes between scheduled departure times for both runs. If there is 15 minutes or more between scheduled departure times, the driver shall be paid the normal warm-up time (15 minutes).

#### 2. BUS DRIVERS

- A. Two weeks prior to the start of the school year, bidding will take place on all employer authorized runs. This bidding will occur at a time and place announced by the transportation supervisor or a designee. All authorized runs will be available for review one (1) day prior to bid meeting.
- B. You are required prior to the start of school to evaluate the routes and to physically drive it to make yourself aware of all stops and to see if any stops need to be adjusted. For this and preparing your run sheets you will be paid five (5) hours at regular rate, paid upon completion approved by the supervisor or a designee.
- C. Drivers will be paid for the run bidding meeting provided that they are in attendance for the entire meeting. Persons on approved medical leave may bid for runs in writing, provided that the bid is received prior to the beginning of the meeting. The employer will be allowed five working days to implement the results of the bidding process.
- D. For bus drivers on medical leave, refer to Article 11, Medical Leave.
- E. Drivers may bid for vacancies on a seniority basis but shall be limited to one move each year.
- F. Drivers shall not be required to double up on runs if substitute drivers are available.

#### 3. Substitution for Mid-Day Runs

Filling of mid-day runs will be awarded to the most senior driver who will not incur overtime, after which they will be chosen on a rotation basis. In the event overtime cannot be avoided, and supervision has gone through the list of subs, excluding probationary or substitutes, they will go back to the top of the daily sign-up sheet and award runs based on seniority regardless of overtime.

Drivers who have a regularly scheduled mid-day run, but may occasionally be available to sub on mid-day runs, must notify supervision by the daily sign-up sheet.

#### 4. Field Trips

- A. Field trips shall be posted before each trip and shall be rotated on the basis of seniority starting at the top of the list. Normally, field trips will be assigned no less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance.
- B. The transportation supervisor or a designee will manage the extra runs in the following manner:
  - 1. You must have completed your probationary period and be a regular driver to be eligible for extra runs.
  - 2. Runs will be posted one week in advance on Tuesday of each week and chosen on Wednesday at 9:15 a.m. whenever possible.
  - 3. You must be present to choose a run unless one of the following exceptions applies:
    - (a) you are driving a school owned vehicle
    - (b) you have a medical emergency in your immediate family
    - (c) you are on an approved leave
    - (d) you are at home sick, in which case you must call in and request a run (you will not be called)
    - (e) legal commitment beyond your control
    - (f) you are required to be at a management or union meeting
- C. Runs will be chosen on a seniority basis at the beginning of the school year, after which they will be chosen on a rotation basis.
- D. If you do not want a run, or if you are not present when runs are chosen, you will be bypassed.

- E. Spontaneous runs are runs that go out within 24 hours and are to be filled by the supervisor from a spontaneous seniority list. Spontaneous runs are considered as a bonus. In extenuating circumstances, approximately two (2) hours before the run, the spontaneous seniority list will not apply.
- F. When an extra run comes in after the runs are chosen on Wednesday or a driver forfeits the run prior to the 24 hour spontaneous timeline in e above, the spontaneous seniority list will apply.

Once the process begins it will continue through rotation and will not be considered a spontaneous run regardless of how long it takes to fill the run.

- G. The time and the date of a forfeited run must be put in writing at the time of the occurrence by the driver and turned into the office. The forfeit form shall be signed by the driver and supervisor.
- H. If you give up an extra run or a spontaneous run that you have chosen you will be bypassed the next time your name is up for weekly run pick not including the run you gave up: unless one of the following exceptions applies:
  - (1) You become sick.
  - (2) You have a medical emergency in your immediate family
  - (3) You are on an approved leave.
  - (4) You are required to be at a management or union meeting.
- I. If a trip is cancelled, the driver will have the option of keeping the trip if it is rescheduled within the posting period. If not, you will not be bypassed the next time your name is up.
- J. Overnight trips will be paid the regular driving rate for driving time.
- K. Drivers making after dark field trips or extended distant field trips (Example Holland) may have a pre-approved responsible adult ride the bus provided they have registered with the transportation supervisor prior to leaving. In order for the pre-approved adult(s) to ride the bus they must have permission in writing from the transportation supervisor and present it to the driver prior to the start of the trip. The transportation supervisor will assign a specific responsibility to this person so they will qualify to be covered by insurance. If they do not qualify for insurance they cannot ride the bus. They will not be entitled to wages or benefits for their assignment.
- L. If any field trip is canceled and the driver cannot drive his/her regular run, he/she shall be paid the rate of his/her regular run.
- M. Gas and lodging will be provided for bus drivers who are directed to take

students on overnight field trips. The employee is required to submit receipts upon his or her return and shall be reimbursed for authorized expenses.

#### 5. Miscellaneous

- A. Drivers are required to comply with the driver's handbook. (Handbook shall not conflict with contract).
- B. The employer will reimburse drivers for license and certification. However retesting, unless passed by the employee, will be at the employee's expense.
- C. Drivers shall be paid the regular rate of pay for employer called meetings to address work related issues.
- D. Drivers shall be paid the regular rate of pay for required training programs.
- E. All training programs, in-service, staff meetings and/or department meetings will be mandatory. The employee will be notified five work days prior to the meeting.
- F. Washing buses the employer will assign the washing of buses to other district employees except for safety requirements which include lights, mirrors, and windows. Safety requirements are the responsibility of the driver.
- G. Holly bus drivers will be given first priority for summer work involving driving of school buses owned by the Holly Area Schools, i.e. football and band camps. Summer work shall be of a non-continuous nature which shall not qualify employees for unemployment benefits. Non-district owned vehicles shall be exempt from the above provisions.
- H. If you want to sub on summer runs you must leave your name with management at the end of the school year. Field trip rotation will be by seniority and will continue through the summer and you will be notified as far in advance as possible when your name comes up.
- I. In the event that a driver's regular run(s) or trips are canceled for any reason the driver may be reassigned to perform other work as designated by the immediate supervisor or a designee.
- **J.** Employees shall report illness a minimum of one hour before scheduled shift.

#### 6. MECHANICS

Mechanics and Assistant Mechanics shall be paid the regular rate of pay for required training programs.

#### 7. BUS ATTENDANTS

- A. Bus Attendants shall be paid the regular rate of pay for employer called meetings to address work related issues.
- B. Bus Attendants shall be paid the regular rate of pay for training programs.
- C. All training programs, in-service, staff meetings and/or department meetings will be mandatory. The employee will be notified five work days prior to the meeting.
- D. Two weeks prior to the start of the school year, bidding will take place on all employer authorized runs. This bidding will occur at a time and place announced by the transportation supervisor or a designee. Authorized runs will be available for review one (1) day prior to bidding meeting.

Attendants will be paid for the run bidding meeting provided that they are in attendance for the entire meeting. Persons on approved medical leave, may bid for runs in writing, provided that the bid is received prior to the beginning of the meeting. The employer will be allowed five working days to implement the results of the bidding process.

- E. For bus attendants on medical leave, refer to Article 11, Medical Leave.
- F. Bus Attendants may bid for vacancies on a seniority basis but shall be limited to one move each year.
- G. Bus Attendants are required to comply with the driver's handbook. (Handbook shall not conflict with contract.)
- H. Employees shall report illness a minimum of one hour before scheduled shift.

### APPENDIX B CAFETERIA

- 1. Work will be offered to AFSCME employees based on a rotating seniority basis, before a substitute is called.
- 2. The cafeteria supervisor will assign catering opportunities and special events in the following manner:
  - a. For the building generating the request AFSCME food service employees assigned to that building shall first be offered the opportunity provided the facility has the capacity to fulfill the request;
  - b. A posting for any given event shall be awarded based on a rotating basis with the highest seniority employees starting the initial rotation. Thereafter, the list shall rotate, offering each seniority AFSCME employee the opportunity to work until all seniority employees have been offered the opportunity. The list shall be posted and kept by the cafeteria supervisor or his/her designee
- 3. AFSCME Employees working nights for open houses, special events, etc., will have a minimum call in of two (2) hours at time and one half or double time if required to work on a designated holiday for 10 month employees (see Article 24 (B)).
- 4. AFSCME food service employees shall be paid the regular rate of pay for training programs.
- 5. All training programs, in-service or related employer called meetings will be mandatory. The employee will be notified five work days prior to the meeting.
- 6. When an outside group uses food service kitchen preparation or serving areas at any site, an AFSCME food service employee must be present. Such opportunities shall be rotated as outlined in 2 (a) and (b) above.
- 7. A one-half hour non paid duty free lunch break will be provided for employees working six (6) hours per day. All employees working shall have a 10 minute paid break.
- 8. The cafeteria supervisor will work in emergencies only.
- 9. In certain situations catering prep time may take additional time outside the normal schedule hours of the day. Due to the type of event, either complexity of menu or number of meals to be served additional hours would be scheduled.
- 10. Employees shall report illness a minimum of one hour before scheduled shift.

# APPENDIX C RATES OF PAY – ALL CLASSIFICATIONS

#### Head Mechanic

### **Assistant Mechanic**

			Hired Atter
	2016-17		1-Jul-12
Probationary	\$19.18	Probationary	\$19.18
1st Year	\$19.63	1st Year	\$19.45
2nd Year	\$20.08	2nd Year	\$19.72
3rd Year	\$20.52	3rd Year	\$20.00
		4th Year	\$20.27
		5th Year	\$20.52

<b>Bus Drivers</b>			Hired After
	2016-17		1-Jul-12
Probationary	\$15.75	Probationary	\$15.75
1st Year	\$16.53	1st Year	\$16.22
2nd Year	\$17.33	2nd Year	\$16.69
3rd Year	\$18.09	3rd Year	\$17.15
		4th Year	\$17.62
		5th Year	\$18.09

Bus Attenda	nts		Hired After
	2016-17		1-Jul-12
Probationary	\$9.94	Probationary	\$9.94
1st Year	\$10.74	1st Year	\$10.58
2nd Year	\$12.10	2nd Year	\$11.22
3rd Year	\$13.14	3rd Year	\$11.86
		4th Year	\$12.49
		5th Year	\$13.14

Cafeteria	
w <sup>1</sup>	2016-17
0-10 years	\$9.20
11-15 years	\$10.23
16+ years	\$11.25

If minimum wage exceeds the pay scale above the rate of pay would increase to meet the new minimum wage.

Crew Leader in Charge of Satellite \$.30 per additional hour while in charge.

A one-time \$1,000 lump sum payment will be made to each cafeteria worker upon ratification.

Wage Openers in the 2017-18 and 2018-19

#### APPENDIX D HEALTH CARE PLANS

#### Holly Area Schools

Benefit Comparison

Benefits shown are amounts member pays. (Only in-network benefits are shown. For non-network benefits please see plan documents)

Benefits snown are amounts member pays. (On				
ltem '	BCBSM Option 1 Simply Blue 1300, 0%	BCBSM Option 2 Simply Blue 1300, 20%	BCN Option 1	BCN Option 2
item	HSA PPO	HSA PPO	Blue Care Network HSA HMO 1300. 0%	Blue Care Network HSA HMO 1300, 20%
	For 2-P/F contract, entire family	For 2-P/F contract, entire family	For 2-P/F contract, entire family	For 2-P/F contract, entire family
Deductible	deductible must be met	deductible must be met	deductible must be met	deductible must be met
Single	\$1,300	\$1,300	\$1,300	\$1,300
Two-Person/Family	\$2,600	\$2,600	\$2,600	\$2,600
Coinsurance (%)				
Most Services	0%	20%	0%	20%
Select Services	0%	20%	50%	50%
Coinsurance Maximum				30%
Single	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Two-Person/Family	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
True Out-of-Pocket Maximum	(deductible+coinsurance+copays)	(deductible+coinsurance+copays)		N/A
Single	\$2,250	1 '	(deductible+coinsurance+copays)	(deductible+coinsurance+copays
Two-Person/Family	\$4,500	\$2,250	\$2,250	\$2,300
Office Visits	\$4,500	\$4,500	\$4,500	\$4,600
	40.0.1.1.171			
Primary Care Office Visit	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Specialist Office Visit	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Chiropractic Visit	\$0 after deductible (12/cal yr)	20% after deductible (12/cal yr)	0% after deductible (30/cal yr)	20% after deductible (30/cal yr)
Infertility Services (see notes below)	0% after deductible	20% after deductible	0% after deductible	50% after deductible
Immediate Care		<i>**</i>		
Emergency Room	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Emergency Medical Transportation	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Urgent Care	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Maternity Care				
Prenatal Office Visits	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
Delivery & Post Natal	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Ultrasound/Labs	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Hospital			To anot doddoublo	20% and deducable
Facility Fee	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Physician/Surgeon Fee	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	•
Outpatient Surgical	40 and deddelible	20% alter deductible	40 alter deductible	20% after deductible
Facility Fee (i.e., ambulatory surgery center)	\$0 after deductible	200/ often deducatible	60 -0 - d-d-d-d-d-d-	2004 6 1 1 111
Physician/Surgeon Fee	1 '	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 or 50% after deductible	20% or 50% after deductible
Testing/X-rays				
Diagnostic Lab	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Diagnostic X-ray	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Adv. Diagnostic Imaging (i.e., CT, MRI)	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Other Care				
Home Health Care	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Durable Medical Equipment	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	50% after deductible	50% after deductible
Hospice	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Therapy	(Combined 30 visits/cal year)	(Combined 30 visits/cal year)	(Combined 60 visits/cal year)	(Combined 60 visits/cal year)
Physical Therapy	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Occupational Therapy	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Speech Therapy	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Mental Health				
Inpatient Mental/Behavioral	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Substance Abuse			71 mil and and apple	20 to differ deductible
	1			
Inpatient Mental/Behavioral	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% offer deductible
Inpatient Mental/Behavioral Outpatient Mental/Behavioral	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible	\$0 after deductible	20% after deductible
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral Prescription Coverage (30-day Supply)	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible	\$0 after deductible Copays apply after deductible	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral Prescription Coverage (30-day Supply) Generic	\$0 after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$15 Copay	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$15 Copay	\$0 after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral Prescription Coverage (30-day Supply) Generic Preferred Brand	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$15 Copay  \$30 Copay	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$15 Copay \$30 Copay	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$10 Copay  \$20 Copay	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay \$40 Copay
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral Prescription Coverage (30-day Supply) Generic Preferred Brand Nonpreferred Brand	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$15 Copay  \$30 Copay  \$60 Copay	20% after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$15 Copay  \$30 Copay  \$60 Copay	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$10 Copay  \$20 Copay  \$40 Copay	20% after deductible  Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay \$40 Copay \$80 Copay
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral Prescription Coverage (30-day Supply) Generic Preferred Brand Nonpreferred Brand Infertility Drugs	\$0 after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$15 Copay \$30 Copay \$60 Copay Subject to Copays Above	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$15 Copay \$30 Copay \$60 Copay Subject to Copays Above	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$10 Copay  \$20 Copay  \$40 Copay  50% Copay	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay \$40 Copay
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral Prescription Coverage (30-day Supply) Generic Preferred Brand Nonpreferred Brand Infertility Drugs Prescription Coverage (90-day Supply)	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$15 Copay  \$30 Copay  \$60 Copay  Subject to Copays Above  Copays apply after deductible	20% after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$15 Copay  \$30 Copay  \$60 Copay	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$10 Copay  \$20 Copay  \$40 Copay	20% after deductible  Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay \$40 Copay \$80 Copay
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral Prescription Coverage (30-day Supply) Generic Preferred Brand Nonpreferred Brand Infertility Drugs	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$15 Copay  \$30 Copay  \$60 Copay  Subject to Copays Above	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$15 Copay \$30 Copay \$60 Copay Subject to Copays Above	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$10 Copay  \$20 Copay  \$40 Copay  50% Copay	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay \$40 Copay \$80 Copay 50% Copay
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral Prescription Coverage (30-day Supply) Generic Preferred Brand Nonpreferred Brand Infertility Drugs Prescription Coverage (90-day Supply)	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$15 Copay  \$30 Copay  \$60 Copay  Subject to Copays Above  Copays apply after deductible	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$15 Copay \$30 Copay \$60 Copay Subject to Copays Above Copays apply after deductible	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$10 Copay  \$20 Copay  \$40 Copay  50% Copay  Copays apply after deductible	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay \$40 Copay \$80 Copay 50% Copay Copays apply after deductible
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral Prescription Coverage (30-day Supply) Generic Preferred Brand Nonpreferred Brand Infertility Drugs Prescription Coverage (90-day Supply) Generic	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible \$15 Copay \$30 Copay \$60 Copay Subject to Copays Above  Copays apply after deductible \$30 Copay	20% after deductible  Copays apply after deductible \$15 Copay \$30 Copay \$60 Copay Subject to Copays Above  Copays apply after deductible \$30 Copay	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay \$20 Copay \$40 Copay 50% Copay  Copays apply after deductible \$20 Copay	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay \$40 Copay \$80 Copay 50% Copay Copays apply after deductible \$20 Copay
Outpatient Mental/Behavioral Prescription Coverage (30-day Supply) Generic Preferred Brand Nonpreferred Brand Infertility Drugs Prescription Coverage (90-day Supply) Generic Preferred Brand	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible  \$15 Copay  \$30 Copay  \$60 Copay  Subject to Copays Above  Copays apply after deductible  \$30 Copay  \$60 Copay  \$120 Copay  Subject to Copays if Covered	20% after deductible  Copays apply after deductible \$15 Copay \$30 Copay \$60 Copay Subject to Copays Above  Copays apply after deductible \$30 Copay \$60 Copay \$120 Copay Subject to Copays if Covered	\$0 after deductible  Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay \$20 Copay \$40 Copay 50% Copay  Copays apply after deductible \$20 Copay \$40 Copay \$40 Copay \$40 Copay \$50 Copay	20% after deductible Copays apply after deductible \$10 Copay \$40 Copay \$80 Copay 50% Copay Copays apply after deductible \$20 Copay \$80 Copay \$160 Copay 50% Copay



#### **Dental Benefit Summary**

Group Number: 00527825

#### **About Your Benefits:**

A visit to your dentist can help you keep a great smile and prevent many health issues. But dental care can be costly and you can be faced with unforeseen expenses. Did you know, a crown can cost as much as \$1,400¹? Guardian dental insurance will help you pay for it. With access to one of the largest network of dental providers in the country, who agreed to charge negotiated fees for their services of up to 30% less than average charges in the same community, you will benefit from lower out-of-pocket costs, quality care from screened and reviewed dentist, no claim forms to file, and excellent customer service. Enroll today and smile next time you see your dentist!

1http://health.costhelper.com/dental-crown.html.

With your PPO plan, you can visit any dentist; but you pay less out-of-pocket when you choose a PPO dentist.

Your Dental Plan	PPO		
Your Network is	DentalGuard Preferred		
Plan year deductible	In-Network	Out-of-Network	
Individual	\$0	\$0	
Family limit	3 per fa	3 per family	
Waived for	Not applicable	Not applicable	
Charges covered for you (co-insurance)	In-Network	Out-of-Network	
Preventive Care	80%	80%	
Basic Care	80%	80%	
Major Care	80%	80%	
Orthodontia	80%	80%	
Annual Maximum Benefit	\$1000	\$1000	
Maximum Rollover	Yes		
Rollover Threshold	\$500		
Rollover Amount	\$250		
Rolloyer In-network Amount	\$350		
Rollover Account Limit	\$1000		
Lifetime Orthodontia Maximum	\$800		
Dependent Age Limits	25		

#### **EXCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS**

- Important Information about Guardian's DentalGuard Indemnity and DentalGuard Preferred PPO plans: This policy provides dental insurance only. Coverage is limited to those charges that are necessary to prevent, diagnose or treat dental disease, defect, or injury. Deductibles apply. The plan does not pay for: oral hygiene services (except as covered under preventive services), orthodontia (unless expressly provided for), cosmetic or experimental treatments (unless they are expressly provided for), any treatments to the extent benefits are payable by any other payor or for which no charge is made, prosthetic devices unless certain conditions are met, and services ancillary to surgical treatment. The plan limits benefits for diagnostic consultations and for
- preventive, restorative, endodontic, periodontic, and prosthodontic services. The services, exclusions and limitations listed above do not constitute a contract and are a summary only. The Guardian plan documents are the final arbiter of coverage. Contract # GP-1-DG2000 et al.
- PPO and or Indemnity Special Limitation: Teeth lost or missing before a covered person becomes insured by this plan. A covered person may have one or more congenitally missing teeth or have lost one or more teeth before he became insured by this plan. We won't pay for a prosthetic device which replaces such teeth unless the device also replaces one or more natural teeth lost or extracted after the covered person became insured by this plan. R3 DG2000

Holly Area School District BLDG ENGINEERS & AFSCME MECHANICS Benefit Summary The Guardian Life Insurance Company of America, 7 Hanover Square, New York, NY 10004

Benefit information illustrated within this material reflects the plan covered by Guardian as of 05/06/2016

#### A Sample of Services Covered by Your Plan:

		Plan pays (on average)		
		In-network	Out-of-network	
Preventive Care	Cleaning (prophylaxis)	80%	80%	
·	Frequency:	2 in 12	2 in 12 Months	
	Fluoride Treatments	80%	80%	
	Limits:	Under Age 19		
	Oral Exams	80%	80%	
	Sealants (per tooth)	80%	80%	
	X-rays	80%	80%	
Basic Care	Anesthesia*	80%	80%	
	Fillings‡	80%	80%	
	Perio Surgery	80%	80%	
	Periodontal Maintenance	80%	80%	
	Frequency:	Once Ever	Once Every 6 Months	
		(Enhanced)		
	Repair & Maintenance of Crowns, Bridges & Dentures	80%	80%	
	Root Canal	80%	80%	
	Scaling & Root Planing (per quadrant)	80%	80%	
	Simple Extractions	80%	80%	
	Surgical Extractions	80%	80%	
Major Care	Bridges and Dentures	80%	80%	
	Dental Implants	80%	80%	
	Inlays, Onlays, Veneers**	80%	80%	
	Single Crowns	80%	80%	
Orthodontia	Orthodontia	80%	80%	
	Limits:	Child(ren)		

This is only a partial list of dental services. Your certificate of benefits will show exactly what is covered and excluded. \*\*For PPO and or Indemnity members, Crowns, Inlays, Onlays and Labial Veneers are covered only when needed because of decay or injury or other pathology when the tooth cannot be restored with amalgam or composite filing material. When Orthodontia coverage is for "Child(ren)" only, the orthodontic appliance must be placed prior to the age limit set by your plan; If full-time status is required by your plan in order to remain insured after a certain age; then orthodontic maintenance may continue as long as full-time student status is maintained. If Orthodontia coverage is for "Adults and Child(ren)" this limitation does not apply. The total number of cleanings and periodontal maintenance procedures are combined in a 12 month period. \*General Anesthesia – restrictions apply. ‡For PPO and or Indemnity members, Fillings – restrictions may apply to composite fillings.

This handout is for illustrative purposes only and is an approximation. If any discrepancies between this handout and your paycheck stub exist, your paycheck stub prevails.

#### Manage Your Benefits:

Go to www.GuardianAnytime.com to access secure information about your Guardian benefits including access to an image of your ID Card. Your on-line account will be set up within 30 days after your plan effective date..

#### Find A Dentist:

Visit www.GuardianAnytime.com
Click on "Find A Provider"; You will need to know your plan and
dental network, which can be found on the first page of your dental
benefit summary.

#### Need Assistance?

Call the Guardian Helpline (888) 600-1600, weekdays, 8:00 AM to 8:30 PM, EST. Refer to your member ID (social security number) and your plan number: 00527825

Please call the Guardian Helpline if you need to use your benefits within 30 days of plan effective date.



### HOLLY AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

More, for less...

40% OFF

Complete pair of prescription eyeglasses

20% OFF

Non-prescription sunglasses

20% OFF

Remaining balance beyond plan coverage

These discounts are for in-network providers only

### Hello, Neighbor

- You're on the ACCESS Network
- For a complete list of providers near you, use our Provider Locator on eyemed.com or call 1-866-723-0596.
- For Lasik providers, call 1-877-5LASER6, or visit eyemedlasik.com.

Vision Care Services	In-Network Out-of-Network Member Cost Reimbursement		
Exam With Dilation as Necessary	\$0 Copay	Up to \$45	
	s fit and follow up visits are avaïlable once a comprehensive eye exam has been complete	ed)	
Standard Contact Lens Fit & Follow-Up	Up to \$55	N/A	
Premium Contact Lens Fit & Follow-Up	10% off retail price	N/A	
Frames	\$0 Copay, \$65 Allowance, 20% off balance over \$65	Up to \$55	
Standard Plastic Lenses			
Single Vision	\$0 Copay	Up to \$38	
Bifocal	\$0 Copay	Up to \$60	
Trifocal	\$0 Copay	Up to \$72	
Lenticular	\$0 Copay		
		Up to \$108	
Standard Progressive Lens	\$0 Copay	Up to \$60	
Premium Progressive Lens	\$0, 80% of Charge less \$120 Allowance	Up to \$60	
Lens Options (paid by the member in addition to the	price of the lenses)		
UV Treatment	\$15	N/A	
Tint (Solid and Gradient)	\$0	Up to \$14	
Standard Plastic Scratch Coating	\$15	N/A	
Standard Polycarbonate	\$40	N/A	
Standard Anti-Reflective Coating	\$45	N/A	
High Index	\$55	N/A	
Photochromic/Transitions	\$0	Up to \$70	
Polarized	\$0		
Other Add-Ons and Services	20% off retail price	Up to \$44 N/A	
	·		
Contact Lenses (Contact lens allowance includes mo			
Conventional	\$0 Copay, \$115 Allowance, 15% off balance over \$115	Up to \$115	
Disposable	\$0 Copay, \$115 Allowance, plus balance over \$115	Up to \$115	
Medically Necessary	\$0 Copay, Paid in Full	Up to \$200	
Laser Vision Correction			
LASIK or PRK from U.S. Laser Network	15% off the retail price or 5% off the promotional price	N/A	
Additional Pairs Discount	Members also receive a 40% discount off complete pair eyeglass purchase and 15% off conventional contact lenses once the funded benefit has been used.	N/A	
Lenses or Contact Lenses Or	nce in a plan year (7/1 to 6/30) nce in a plan year (7/1 to 6/30) nce in a plan year (7/1 to 6/30)		

#### LETTER OF AGREEMENT

The following AFSCME bargaining unit members will be grandfathered into health benefits as long as they work 19 or more hours.

The following employees were employed on January 10, 1988 and had coverage at that time:

Dorothy Stockwell

American Federation of State County & Municipal Employees Union, Council 25 & its Affiliated Local Union 202

Holly Area Schools

### INDEX

Act of God Days	22,	26
Appendix A, Transportation		
Appendix B, Cafeteria		
Appendix C, Rates of Pay		
Appendix D, Health Care Plan		
Appendix E, Optical/Dental Plan		
Benefits		
Board Rights		
Bulletin Boards		
Call In Time		
Compensation		
Discharge		
Discipline		
Duration of Agreement		
Grievance Procedure		
Health Examination		
Holidays, Paid		
Job Description		
·		
Layoff and Recall Leave, Child Care		
Leave, Family Medical Leave		
Leave, Funeral Immediate Family		
Leave, Funeral Unpaid		
Leave, Jury Service		
Leave, Medical		
Leave, Military		
Leave, Personal Leave		
Leave, Union		
Leave, Unpaid		
Letters of Agreement		
Lunch Breaks		
Overtime		
Payroll Deductions		
Probationary Period		•
Promotions		
Recalls		
Retirement	. 16,	26
Safety		
Salary Increments		
Seniority		
Seniority List		
Sick Leave Days		24
Special Conferences/Meetings		26
Strike Prohibition		1
Suspension		5
Transfers		12
Transfers, Shift or Location		
Unemployment		
Uniforms		
Union Stewards		2
Vacancies, Notice of Leave Position		
Vacancies, Posting		
Vacations		
Workers' Compensation		